

ACRS Submission on Setting of Speed Limits Rule 2024



To:

Te Manatū Waka, Ministry of Transport speedrule@transport.govt.nz

For further information please contact:

Prof Ann Williamson: President, Australasian College of Road Safety

Dr Ingrid Johnston: Chief Executive Officer, Australasian College of Road Safety

Australasian College of Road Safety PO Box 198 Mawson ACT 2607

e: <u>ceo@acrs.org.au</u> p: (02) 6290 2509 w: <u>www.acrs.org.au</u>

11 July 2024



Table of Contents

Introduction	.3
ACRS response to the Consultation Draft	.4
Overall	4
Proposal 1 – require cost benefit analysis for speed limit changes	4
Proposal 2 – Strengthen consultation requirements	5
Proposal 3 – Require variable speed limits outside school gates	5
Proposal 4 – Introduce a Ministerial Speed Objective	6
Proposal 5 – Changes to speed limits classifications	6
Proposal 6 – Update the Director's criteria for assessing speed management plans for certification	6
Proposal 7 – Reverse recent speed limit reductions	7
Speed Management Committee	7
Regional speed management plans	7
Higher speed limits on certain roads	8
Motorcycle Lane Filtering/Splitting Speed	8
Exceptions Tables	8
Conclusion and Recommendations	.9
References	10
Appendix 1: Road safety outcomes from speed limit changes in New Zealand1	12
Appendix 2: ACRS Speed Management Policy Position Statement	13



Introduction

The Australasian College of Road Safety is the region's peak membership association for road safety with a vision of eliminating death and serious injury on the road. Our members include experts from all areas of road safety including policy makers, health and transport professionals, academics, community organisations, researchers, federal, state and local government agencies, private companies and members of the public. The purpose of the College is to support our members in their efforts to eliminate serious road trauma through knowledge sharing, professional development, networking and advocacy. Our objectives include the promotion of road safety as a critical organisational objective within government, business and the community; the promotion and advocacy of policies and practices that support harm elimination; the improvement of relative safety outcomes for vulnerable demographic and user groups within the community; the promotion of post-crash policies and practices; and the promotion of a collegiate climate amongst all those with responsibilities for and working in road safety.

The College believes that we should prevent all fatal and serious injuries on our roads; the road traffic system must be made safe for all road users; system designers should aim to prevent human error and mitigate its consequences; life and health are not exchangeable for other benefits in society; and that all College policy positions must be evidence based.

The consultation document notes that the draft Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed Limits 2024 will replace the Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed Limits 2022. The rule sets out criteria, requirements and procedures to be followed by road controlling authorities (RCAs) when reviewing and setting speed limits for roads within their respective jurisdictions.

When making the rules, the Minister must have regard to several matters including:(1)

- The level of risk existing to land transport safety in general in New Zealand, and
- The need to maintain and improve land transport safety and security

The draft includes the following proposals:

- 1. Requires RCAs to undertake cost benefit analysis when consulting on proposed speed limit changes
- 2. Requires RCAs to undertake genuine consultation and increases transparency of decisions in response to feedback received
- 3. Requires variable speed limits outside school gate during school travel periods
- 4. Introduces a Ministerial Speed Objective which will set out the Government's expectations for speed management
- 5. A schedule of speed limits classifications for each road type
- 6. Updates the Director's criteria for assessing speed management plans for certification
- 7. Certain speed limits reduced since 1 January 2020 will be reversed by 1 July 2025 for:
 - a. Local streets with widespread 30 km/h speed limits surrounding a school
 - b. Arterial roads (urban connectors)
 - c. Rural state highways (interregional connectors)



ACRS response to the Consultation Draft

Overall

Speed limits stir many opinions and many worry that they'll be slowed down or lose productivity with lower speed limits. In fact, where lower speed limits have been implemented, overall travel times usually stay about the same.(2) This is because most people are already travelling slower due to traffic, intersections or cornering, and the lower speed limit just gives a clearer message to those driving too fast for the conditions.

Road crashes cost the country in productivity, approximately \$10-11b per year (or 4% of GDP).(3) One of the worst things we can do for productivity is kill and serious harm our young people who have a lifetime of societal contribution and productivity ahead of them – road crashes are a leading cause of death of New Zealand's young people.(4)

The Australasian College of Road Safety has surveyed its membership and reviewed the proposed Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed Limits 2024 against its 2023 policy position on speed management. This policy position statement is attached in Appendix 2.

The speed limit rule, as proposed, does not represent peer reviewed evidence and the global position on speed management, nor address how this will contribute to road safety advancement. The government coalition agreements require decisions to be "evidence based" (Section 15 F of NZ First Agreement)(5) and only "Reverse Speed Limit reductions where it is safe to do so" (Act Coalition Agreement)(6), and yet this is missing from the draft Rule. The proposed speed rule is contrary to the UN General Assembly resolution GA/12432, in which New Zealand committed to implement a safe system approach to set safe adequate speed limits.(7)

Proposal 1 – require cost benefit analysis for speed limit changes

Strongly oppose

The proposed cost benefit ratio methodology is not an appropriate way to assess the benefits and costs of speed limits. The simplified methodology does not align with industry best practice and can lead to inaccurate representations of the scheme. Important metrics for economic evaluation are ignored including vehicle operating costs and vehicle emission costs.

Furthermore, a site-by-site analysis of benefits and costs will not only be expensive, but short-term statistical variances may incorrectly demonstrate the long-term benefits of speed management. It will likely lead to inconsistencies on the road network as various interpretations are used, only frustrating motorists.

The economic advantage of speed management is already proven at the programme level. Meta-analysis studies of speed limit programmes have shown significant safety benefits of speed reductions(8-11). Previous speed limit changes have shown only minor increases in travel time, while there have been improvements in fuel savings, vehicle maintenance costs and other environmental benefits.(12, 13)

Recommendation: That the benefit cost requirement be removed. Failing that, allow for the benefit cost methodology, using Monetised Benefits and Costs Manual, (14) to be undertaken at a programme level, and possibly a national level.



Proposal 2 – Strengthen consultation requirements

Partially support

Strong consultation is important to ensure that our road users understand the reason for speed limit changes and have the opportunity to comment on the changes. However, the provisions in the rule are based on a site-by-site consultation methodology. It is important that a network wide approach is taken to ensure there is harmonisation of speed limits across the network. Because motorists drive between suburbs and cities, consistency is needed to embed expectations and correct behaviour. Local consultation should be used to ensure that the planned speed limits make sense in specific contexts.

Recommendation: Clarify that network wide consultation can be carried out under the rule.

Proposal 3 – Require variable speed limits outside school gates

Strongly oppose

Focussing on vulnerable road users is important, and it is appropriate that speed limits are set around schools to enable safe travel. However, the current rule does not allow for speed limits to be set for maintaining safe journeys to and from schools. Many crashes around schools (up to 85%) occur outside of the proposed variable speed limit times.(15)

The rule does not enable schools flexibility to set when the variable speed limits are enacted. As an example, schools, under Traffic Note 47, can set the variable school speeds in force for ten minutes at high use times outside of peak periods. This gives schools flexibility to safely carry out non routine operations, e.g. walk to neighbouring school for Kapa Haka.

The proposal limits the distance from the school gate in which a school can impose school safe speed limits. Safe travel to school does not stop at the school gate, or immediate surrounds. Local authorities should be given the flexibility to utilise speed management, as part of a suite of tools, to ensure safe travel to schools.

Permanent Speed Limits are a more effective method for reducing harm around schools. A 2022 study in Auckland found that permanent speed limits prevent six times more deaths and serious injuries than variable speed limits do. This is despite only requiring an average 14 second increase in average trip time.(15) However, as per the Australasian College of Road Safety policy, speed limits should reflect the road environment.

Recommendation: Revert back to providing guidance, rather than strict requirements, for the application of appropriate speed limits for school journeys.



Proposal 4 – Introduce a Ministerial Speed Objective

Oppose

There is insufficient detail about how the Ministerial Speed Objective will be derived or the implications for RCAs. The ACRS' position is that speed management should be led from an evidence-based approach, rather than a political one. There should also be a robust process by which the evidence informs the setting of speed limits, which is important as it cannot be expected that a minister will have the expertise to direct such operational and technical application.

Recommendation: That speed limit setting be led from an evidence-based perspective and is applied only through a robust process with the appropriate checks and approvals.

Proposal 5 - Changes to speed limits classifications

Strongly oppose

The proposal does not allow local communities and local RCAs the ability to implement survivable speeds that are appropriate for the conditions. For example, Urban Streets classification represent a large variety of streets with varying movement and place functions. The proposal does not separate Local Streets, Activity Streets, Main Streets and City Hubs as defined in the One Network Framework (ONF).(16) There will always be outliers which also do not fit within the ONF. While a national level framework including survivable speeds that make sense in different contexts the local RCA is best placed to ensure that application of an evidence based and national framework is being applied appropriately to set speed limits for the function of the road. With this in mind, the Urban Streets requires more variation in speed limit range, including survivable speeds such as 30km/r that make sense in the right locations such as town centres and schools.

Recommendation: The speed limit rule should not restrict speed limits to classifications, rather the speed limit guide should give RCAs advice on setting speed limits.

Proposal 6 – Update the Director's criteria for assessing speed management plans for certification Neither Support nor Oppose

The Director's criteria are contingent on the other commentary above. Provided the cost benefit requirement is removed as requested, then a Director's approval should have no bearing on the overall safety impact.



Proposal 7 – Reverse recent speed limit reductions

Strongly oppose

Reversing speed limits will dramatically increase risk to road users.(17) International Meta Studies have shown that for every 1% increase in mean speed, there is a 4% increase in fatality risk.(11) The previous speed limit reductions have shown, overall, a reduction in death and serious injuries on New Zealand roads (see Appendix 1). Global evidence, including a recent high-quality review of 30km/r speed limits in Europe,(18) consistently shows a 30-40% reduction in injuries. Reversing these speed limits will likely increase trauma by a similar magnitude.

The current speed limits have been consulted on and gained community buy in. Indeed, several were driven by community requests. The Government campaigned on only reversing speed limits "where it is safe to do so". The rule does not consider the individual safety aspects of reversal of roads and is therefore outside the government's own election promises and coalition agreement (see overall comment).

Politicising speed limits, and their reversals, leads to inappropriate and shifting outcomes for road users. It is important that speed limits are set using international, peer reviewed evidence based on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 8 step process outlines in the ACRS speed management policy position statement (Appendix 2).

We would suggest that further effort is needed to improve how speed limits and applied in various contexts, but in a way that continues to improve the process, not reverse it.

Recommendation: Remove the reversal of recent speed limits.

Speed Management Committee

Neither support nor oppose

Expert support at a national level is important, but there is limited clarity on the roles and responsibilities of the speed management committee.

Recommendation: That the Ministry of Transport provide clarity on the roles, function and expertise of the Speed Management Committee. This is to ensure that an evidential and robust process, around the application of speed management, is carried out.

Regional speed management plans

Support

Regional speed management plans are an important mechanism to ensure that the alignment of speed limit changes is considered across boundaries and to support less established local authorities.

Recommendation: Continue with regional speed management plans.



Higher speed limits on certain roads

Strongly oppose

A meta-analysis of research conducted by Elvik, Christensen and Amundsen (2004) looked at the relationship between travel speeds and casualty rates.(19) Analysis covered 98 separate studies, conducted between 1966 and 2004, across 20 countries, on both rural and urban roads and with speed limits ranging from about 25km/h to 120 km/h. It confirmed the 'Power Model' that was originally developed by Nilsson (1981, 2004) showing that the change in all injury crashes with change in speed. For every 5 percent increase in average speed, there is a 20% increase in fatal crash risk. Recent studies continue to support these findings.(20, 21) Raising to 120 km/r, even on five-star roads, would present an unacceptable safety risk.

Motorcycle Lane Filtering/Splitting Speed

Motorcycling is a very high-risk activity in New Zealand. A recent Massey University study found that the risk of motorcycle fatality is 100x the risk of a vehicle occupant when you consider the time spend travelling.(22) Overseas jurisdictions, particularly in Australia, manage the risk of lane filtering/splitting through a 30 km/r speed limit for filtering/splitting.

Recommendation: Set a new speed limits for motorcycle lane filtering/splitting of 30 km/h.

Exceptions Tables

The Australasian College of Road Safety supports the need for lower speed limits to address high risk crash sites. This includes the need for lower speed limits on unsealed roads and intersection speed zones. There are more than 30,000 km of unsealed roads in New Zealand, representing approximately one third of the road network by length. The majority of unsealed roads have the default rural speed limit of 100 km/h. The Australasian College of Road Safety believes there is a significant opportunity to implement safer speeds on unsealed roads by introducing a default speed limit on unsealed roads of 60km/h. Default speed limits on unsealed roads have already been introduced in Tasmania. An additional benefit of introducing a lower default speed limit would be significant cost savings for local government, as there would be no requirement to install speed limit signs when implementing the proposed Rule.

However, there are some specific changes that we would like to see addressed. These are that tortuous roads are not necessarily hilly roads and that the safe and appropriate speed by urban streets should include 30 km/h (as the survivable speed).

Recommendation: Change Speed Limit for Number 14, Urban Streets, to 30 to 40 km/h. Secondly, include Tortuous in the Class of Road name for item 17.



Conclusion and Recommendations

The ACRS is concerned that several key aspects of the proposed rule will lead to increased deaths and serious injuries on New Zealand roads, and not deliver any economic or productivity benefits. We recommend:

- Benefit cost requirement be removed or allow for the methodology, using Monetised Benefits and Costs Manual, to be undertaken at a programme level and possibly a national level;
- Clarify that network wide consultation can be carried out under the rule;
- Revert back to providing guidance, rather than strict requirements, for the application of appropriate speed limits for school journeys;
- That speed limit setting be led from an evidence-based perspective and is applied only through a robust process with the appropriate checks and approvals;
- The speed limit rule should not restrict speed limits to classifications, rather the speed limit guide should give RCAs advice on setting speed limits;
- Remove the reversal of recent speed limits;
- That the Ministry of Transport provide clarity on the roles, function and expertise of the Speed Management Committee;
- Continue with regional speed management plans;
- Set a new speed limit for motorcycle lane filtering/splitting of 30km/h; and
- Change speed limit for Number 14, Urban Streets, to 30 to 40km/h and include Tortuous in the Class of Road name for item 17.

The ACRS appreciates the opportunity to comment on the proposed changes, and contribute to improved road safety in New Zealand. Please do not hesitate to contact us if you need any further information.

Paul Durdin

NZ Chapter Co-Chair

The Il.

ACRS

Robyn Gardner

My ardener.

NZ Chapter Co-Chair

ACRS

Dr Ingrid Johnston

CEO ACRS



References

- 1. Land Transport Act 1998 Section 152.
- 2. Austroads. Impact of Lower Speed Limits for Road Safety on Network Operations. Austroads Technical Report AP-T143/10. https://austroads.com.au/publications/network/ap-t143-10: Austroads; 2010.
- 3. Ministry of Transport. Social cost of road crashes and injuries 2023 update. https://www.transport.govt.nz/area-of-interest/safety/social-cost-of-road-crashes-and-injuries: New Zealand Government; 2024.
- 4. Te Rōpū Arotake Auau Mate o te Hunga Tamariki TCaYMRC. 15th Data report 2015-19. Health Quality and Safety Commission New Zealand; 2021.
- 5. New Zealand National Party & New Zealand First. Coalition Agreement.

 https://assets.nationbuilder.com/nzfirst/pages/4462/attachments/original/1700784896/National NZF C oalition Agreement signed 24 Nov 2023.pdf?1700784896; 2023.
- 6. New Zealand National Party & ACT New Zealand. Coalition Agreement. https://assets.nationbuilder.com/actnz/pages/13849/attachments/original/1715133581/National ACT Agreement.pdf?1715133581; 2023.
- 7. United Nations General Assembly. At High-Level Session, General Assembly Unanimously Adopts Resolution on Improving Global Road Safety, Stresses Commitment to Reduce Fatalities in Half by 2030. Seventy-Sixth Session, 90th & 91st Meetings GA/12432 https://press.un.org/en/2022/ga12432.doc.htm: UN; 2022 [updated 30 June 2022; cited 2024 10 July].
- 8. Cameron M. Economic analysis of optimum speeds on rural state highways in New Zealand. Camcomp Partners Pty. Ltd. report to New Zealand Transport Agency. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/economic-analysis-of-optimum-speeds-on-rural-state-highways-in-nz.pdf: Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency; 2022.
- 9. Frith B. Economic evaluation of the impact of safe speeds: literature review. NZ Transport Agency research report 505. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/research/reports/505/docs/505.pdf: NZ Transport Agency; 2012.
- 10. Neki K, Lumumba M, Mitra S, Job S. Economic impact of 30km/h Benefits and Costs of Speeds in an urban environment. Journal of Road Safety. 2021;32(3):49-51.
- 11. International Traffic Safety Data and Analysis Group. Speed and crash risk. IRTAD Research Report. https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/speed-crash-risk.pdf: International Transport Forum,; 2018.
- 12. Abley. Safe Speeds Phase 1 24 Month Interim Evaluation. A report for Auckland Transport. https://at.govt.nz/media/1990901/aukland-transport-report-24-month-safe-speeds-tranche-1-monitoring.pdf: Abley; 2022.
- 13. Tate F. The impact of change in speed limit at three sites. Project Number:5-C4024.00. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/speed-management-guide-road-to-zero-edition/wsp-the-impact-of-change-in-speed-limit-of-three-sites-report.pdf: WSP; 2022.
- 14. NZ Transport Agency Waka Kotahi. Monetised benefits and costs manual v1.7. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/monetised-benefits-and-costs-manual/: New Zealand Government; 2024.
- 15. Flow Transportation Specialists. Auckland Speed Management Plan Technical Note: High Level Economic Assessment of Streategic Approaches. https://at.govt.nz/media/1990950/auckland-transport-speed-management-plan-high-level-economic-assessment.pdf: Auckland Transport; 2022.
- 16. NZ Transport Agency Waka Kotahi. One Network Framework [cited 2024 10 July]. Available from: https://www.nzta.govt.nz/planning-and-investment/planning/one-network-framework/.
- 17. Job S, Brodie C. Understanding the role of Speeding and Speed in Serious Crash Trauma: A Case Study of New Zealand. Journal of Road Safety. 2022;33(1):5-25.
- 18. Yannis G, Michelaraki E. Review of City-Wide 30 km/h Speed Limit Benefits in Europe. Sustainability. 2024;16(11).



- 19. Elvik R, Christensen P, Amundsen A. Speed and road accidents: An evaluation of the Power Model. TOI report 740/2004. https://www.toi.no/getfile.php?mmfileid=1007: The Institute of Transport Economics; 2004.
- 20. Elvik R. Speed limits, enforcement, and health consequences. Annu Rev Public Health. 2012;33:225-38.
- 21. Elvik R, Vadeby A, Hels T, van Schagen I. Updated estimates of the relationship between speed and road safety at the aggregate and individual levels. Accident Analysis & Prevention. 2019;123:114-22.
- 22. Environmental Health Intelligence New Zealand. Road traffic injury mortality. https://www.ehinz.ac.nz/assets/Surveillance-reports/Released 2024/2024-transport-injury-mortality-final.pdf: Massey University; 2024.



Appendix 1: Road safety outcomes from speed limit changes in New Zealand

This provides a brief overview of some evaluations of recent speed limit changes across New Zealand, with changes in crashes or deaths and serious injuries (DSI). Further information is available upon request.

Road/area	Speed limit changed	Evaluation period	Comparison area	Result
	changeu	periou		
Auckland rural, 800km	June 2020	2 years	Untreated sites	26.39% reduction in DSI
Mt Maunganui, 7km of	30km/h zone	5 years	Adjacent	21% reduction in crashes
streets	Aug 2011		unchanged area	
SH2 Maramarua, 25km	90km/h Dec	5 years	SH2 east	36.1% reduction in DSI
between SH1 and SH25	2011			
SH2 Karangahake Gorge,	80km/h Nov	5 years	Nearby section of	35% reduction in DSI
9km	2005		SH25	
SH58 Paremata, 4km	80km/h	5 years	Adjacent section	48.8% reduction in DSI
around Pauatahanui	2005-6		of SH58	
Harbour				
Hastings rural, 75km	80km/h Jan	3 years	Unchanged	32% reduction in injury
	2014		100km/h sites	crashes
Wellington suburban, 10-	30km/h	3 years	Unchanged	38% reduction in injury
15km	2010-2016		surrounding areas	crashes
SH60, 9km section west of	80km/h Dec	5 years	Adjacent section	73.3% reduction in DSI
SH6 to Maiseys Road	2018		of SH60 to	
			Motueka	
SH6, Blenheim to Nelson	60-90km/r	5 years	SH6 south of	78.7% reduction in DSI
	Dec 2020		Wakefield to SH63	
			SH03	
Christchurch CBD, 10km	30 km/h	5 years	Unchanged CBD	48.1% reduction in injury
	March 2016		areas	crashes
Christchurch suburban -	30-40km/r	3-4 years	Adjacent	59.1% reduction in injury
Addington West, Papanui, Sumner	2018-19		unchanged sites	crashes
SH75 Christchurch to	60-80km/h	3 years	SH73 West	20.5% reduction in DSI
Akaroa	Sept 2022		Melton-Bealey	
			River	



Appendix 2: ACRS Speed Management Policy Position Statement



ACRS Policy Position Statement Speed Management

Summary

Speed management is a critical component of eliminating fatal and serious injuries on our roads. The objective of this Policy Position Statement is to describe a more holistic framework for speed management. Speed management is best achieved through a comprehensive scope such as the 8-step approach to speed management policy put forward by the OECD and European Ministers of Transport. The principal tenets of this approach are that: the nature and function of roads and speed limits must be consistent. This means that as far as possible roads should be designed to explain the safe and appropriate speed to road users and make the safe speed in that location more obvious and intuitive to drivers; speed limits and enforcement should be credible and realistic to drivers and other road users.

Key policy positions

- 1. Apply the comprehensive 8-step OECD/European approach to speed management policy.
- 2. Design traffic environments based on the nature and function of roads that are credible and plausible to road users, then set speed limits appropriate to this section of road.
- 3. Use traffic calming and infrastructure changes to achieve lower speeds where road functions include movement of a mixture of motorised (drivers/riders) and non-motorised (pedestrians, bicyclists) road users and to moderate speeds on high-speed roads.
- 4. Make sure that road users know the speed limit and understand why this limit is applied.
- 5. Ensure speed limits are credible and believable in terms of the traffic environments in which they are applied, and enforcement of speed limits is led by general deterrence strategies.
- 6. Accelerate the adoption of vehicle technology with demonstrated effectiveness for reducing excessive speeds and crash risk.
- 7. Evaluate speed mitigation and enforcement strategies using valid and reliable speed measurement before and after their introduction and publish the results.

This policy position statement was developed by ACRS members including: Prof Ann Williamson, Gregory Casey, Dr Brett Hughes, Dr Lori Mooren, Kathryn Collier, Ray Metcalfe, Gary McDonald, Joel Tucker, Eric Chalmers, Priyank Trivedi, Ali Zayerzadeh, Philip Devon, Ian Faulks, and Herman Lule.

Date adopted: May 2023



Policy problem

Excessive vehicle speed is a major cause of casualty crashes. Excessive travel speeds (speeding) can be defined in two ways:

- Speeds that exceed legally permitted maximum limits, and
- Speeds that are unsafe for the road and traffic conditions but are within the speed limit.

There is good evidence that driving at high speeds increases the likelihood of more severe crashes and probably increases the risk of crashes.(1) Speeding is a major factor contributing to pedestrian, cyclist and motorcyclist crashes.(2-4) Poor speed management has contributed to the existing and unacceptably high road trauma results in Australia and New Zealand. Good speed management is needed to achieve our ambitious 2030 targets in both countries and is essential for our ultimate vision of eliminating fatal and serious injury on the road. The Global road safety performance targets set by the UN to underpin the Decade of Action for Road Safety 2021-2030 aim for halving the proportion of vehicles travelling over the posted speed limit and a reduction in speed related injuries and fatalities.(5)

There are three main problem areas for speed management. First, high speed roads where, if a crash occurs, impact speeds will invariably result in the most serious casualty outcomes. Second, multipurpose roads where potentially high-speed vehicles encounter more vulnerable non-motorised road users such as pedestrians and bicyclists. Third, motor vehicles being driven/ridden too fast for the conditions.

Much road safety engineering activity has focused on retrofitting high speed roads while retaining existing speed limits. Further, policy attention has focused on reducing speed limits as a response to persistent infrastructure safety issues, although the actual volume of speed limit reductions is extremely low. The greatest amount of policy attention and safety activity has focused on compliance with speed limits through enforcement and penalties for non-compliant motor vehicle drivers/riders.(6, 7) Enforcement is the last line of defence in speed management, but faces entrenched perceptions of revenue raising, and an enforcement-dominated speed management strategy is unlikely to help reach societal safety goals. A wider range of approaches to speed management exist which should be adopted including, in priority order: design and management of safe infrastructure; vehicle technologies to support safe use of the road; safe and appropriate speed limits; police enforcement of speed limits; and community engagement.(8)

Principles underpinning ACRS position

- It is never acceptable that people are killed or seriously injured in the road traffic system.
- The road traffic system must be made safe for all road users.
- The unacceptability of fatal and serious injuries means that safety and health are more important outcomes of the road traffic system than efficiency or cost.
- Safe and legal speeds should be obvious to drivers/riders to reduce speed management errors.
- Speed limits should be set to match the road function, characteristics and design.
- Speed management strategies should be comprehensive in scope and not rely primarily on setting and enforcing speed limits.



Evidence base

Management of speeding involves two elements. Safe speeds that limit the likelihood of crashes and survivable speeds where the human threshold for sustaining serious or fatal injuries is not exceeded.(9) Speeding involves travelling at above the sign-posted speed limit, or faster than is appropriate for the conditions. The safe speed will vary according to factors such as the type and function of the road, weather conditions, light and visibility, type of vehicle driven and traffic including problems like large differentials in traffic flow. Higher speeds increase both the severity of a crash and probably the likelihood of crashing, and relatively small changes in travel speeds can result in substantial changes in death or serious injury in crashes.(10) The higher the speed, the greater the stopping distance, therefore the greater the chance of a crash, and the greater the kinetic energy which must be absorbed, resulting in a greater chance of serious or fatal injuries.(11) For example, for head on crashes, the risk of fatality increases substantially after 70km/hr and the risk of serious injuries increases from as low as 30 km/hr, and for pedestrian crashes, the risk of fatality increases substantially from around 37 km/hr and of serious injury from around 30km/hr.(12, 13) There are also wider negative impacts such as increased traffic noise, air pollution and fuel consumption.(14) However, roads can be designed to naturally or inherently encourage travel at safe speeds.(15)

While some may see speed management as a trade-off between mobility and safety, safety must always be the priority and primary focus.(16) An innovative and comprehensive approach for addressing the problem of speeding was put forward in a 2005 report for the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and European Transport Ministers.(14) It builds on ideas from the Dutch Sustainable Safety approach to speed management(17) which consider the two important components of safe speeds: the nature and function of the road and driver behaviour. The approach brings the two components together by ensuring that the design of the road network and road infrastructure is easy to understand and is predictable so for drivers, safe behaviour is intuitive and the most natural behaviour, and vehicles are easy and predictable to use. Appropriate design of the road system and vehicles makes them more usable by drivers and reduces the likelihood of error as well as its consequences.(18, 19) The approach includes the importance of adequately educating and informing road users and, where still necessary, applying rules and enforcement.

For speed management, this approach incorporates the concepts of self-explaining roads which through their design, immediately produce safe behaviour from road users that is consistent with safe speed at that location.(20) The Sustainable Safety approach also highlights the importance of setting speed limits that are credible and plausible to road users in order to enhance compliance.

The strategy proposes a set of eight interrelated steps, which include:

- 1. Determine the function of the road including the types of road users allowed. This includes road functions such as free flow roads where the purpose is efficient throughput of long-distance traffic and non-motorised traffic is not allowed, distributor roads where the purpose is to allow drivers to enter and exit urban or rural areas from free flow roads and non-motorised traffic may be located, and access roads which allow access to properties along the road and are most complex as they incorporate multiple intersections and different types of road users. The Movement and Place approach is also relevant here.(21)
- 2. Determine the safe and appropriate speed for road lengths and intersections. This is based on an evaluation of the road function, characteristics, and design. Where the road section has combined functions, the safe speed should apply to the lowest function (access).
- 3. Set a speed limit that reflects the safe and appropriate speed that is credible in terms of the nature and function of the traffic environment at that location. Since the intention of speed limits is to



advise drivers/riders on safe and appropriate speeds, it is essential that the limits set in a particular context are plausible to drivers/riders. Where this is not the case, changes should be made to the characteristics of the road context, or to the speed limit including through variable speed limit approaches, or both.

- 4. Apply road engineering measures where low speeds are crucial for safety. This applies especially where motorised and non-motorised road users coincide. Maintaining low speeds is difficult for drivers especially where the characteristics of the road indicate higher speeds. To achieve low speeds, traffic calming engineering solutions are essential, so the road environment becomes self-explaining or intuitive to road users and any posted speed limits are credible and plausible to road users.
- 5. Make sure people know the speed limit in force. Knowledge of the speed limit is a prerequisite for compliance so information on the limit must be available to drivers/riders through consistent signage and road marking. New technologies can also display the applicable speed limit to the driver within the vehicle.
- 6. Inform and educate drivers about speed and speed management. To complement all preceding steps, road users should be provided information about speed and speeding and the rationale for the system of speed limits.
- 7. Police enforcement to control the speeder. Speeding by some individuals may still occur in some contexts, especially high-speed roads, so enforcement will still be needed to manage these sources of speeding. The need for enforcement however should be reduced if the preceding steps are implemented.
- 8. Incorporate vehicle technologies where appropriate and available. New technologies that assist drivers to manage speed to safe levels should be encouraged and implemented as they become available. These include providing access to accurate and reliable speed limit information to the public and Intelligent Speed Adaptation technologies.

This 8-step approach is ambitious, but its evidence-base justifies the effort required to implement it, especially in the light of the high cost to the community of speeding-related fatalities and injury. Well-established road systems such as we have in Australia and New Zealand, already incorporate several of the elements of this approach, but mostly from the enforcement end of the spectrum – the importance of matching road function and design and speed limits for example is often missing. Australia and New Zealand have many roads that have a mix of functions such as access and distributor or free flow roads which creates considerable complexity. Where this occurs, design interventions and speed limits should respond to the lower-level function (e.g., access).

The Australasian College of Road Safety recognises that simply relying on enforcement of lower speed limits is not likely to achieve our ultimate elimination goal. A much more systemic response is required. The College has advocated mandating intelligent speed adaptation in new vehicles to support driver compliance. The College has also advocated for publication of infrastructure safety star ratings which can be expected to promote better community understanding of safety issues (including speed management) and better and more infrastructure safety investment. This investment is critical to better speed management, has been demonstrated to be cost-effective, and needs to focus on both reducing human error and increasing crash survivability.

Drivers find it difficult to manage conflicting information about apparent road function and legal speed.(15, 20) Temporary requirements for lower speeds on these roads such as for road works must be well signposted to inform and provide drivers enough time to slow down.



When speeding behaviours are unintentional, such as when speed limits and road function do not match, or road signage is limited or difficult to see amongst other roadside clutter, an appropriate response should focus on improvements to the system design.

Speed enforcement strategies should follow well-understood behavioural principles: enforcement penalties should be proportional to the risk imposed by the offence; and penalties should be imposed at, or close in time, to the offence.(22-24)

Narrow speed management strategies that emphasise speed limits, for example, or do not address road design inadequacies, or inhibit effective enforcement, can reduce credibility, negatively impact on the overall public acceptance of road safety measures, and weaken the credibility of overall road safety policies. The OECD report drew attention to the need to avoid such outcomes by working successively through each of the steps in implementing the suggested speed management.

Recommended policy actions

- 1. Implement a comprehensive and holistic approach to speed management to match road function and intuitive and credible speed limits to manage speed.
- 2. The eight steps approach recommended by the OECD/ECMT report should be used for speed management in all new road developments.
- 3. In any reviews of existing roads, the eight steps approach should be used to set credible speed limits and identify where road engineering solutions are needed to achieve sustainable safety.
- 4. Rolling ten-year investment strategies should be developed which specify the activity and resources needed to match road infrastructure design and function to credible speeds for people to use safely.
- 5. Regulatory impact statements should be conducted on lowering default urban and rural speed limits and conducted in a manner which recognises the significant change leadership task required in speed management.
- 6. Regulations should match European vehicle safety standards which are requiring application of evidence based intelligent speed adaptation technology which restricts vehicle speed to legal limits.
- 7. Promote improved road user understanding of the effects of speeding and the reasons for safe speeds.

ACRS actions

- 1. Advocate for the recommended policy actions.
- 2. Advocate for a more comprehensive approach to speed management that is based on the eight steps approach recommended by the OECD and European Ministers of Transport.
- 3. Encourage adoption of policies on speed management that:
 - a. ensure consistency between the characteristics and function of the road and the speed limit applied, and
 - b. include speed limits and enforcement that are credible and plausible to road users.
- 4. In the context of the first two actions, promote education for road users that explains the effects of speeding and the reasons for speed limits and enforcement.



References

- 1. Elvik R. Speed limits, enforcement, and health consequences. Annu Rev Public Health. 2012;33:225-38.
- 2. Sandt L, Brookshire K, Heiny S, Blank K, Harmon K. Toward a shared understanding of pedestrian safety: an exploration of context, patterns and impacts.

https://www.pedbikeinfo.org/resources/resources_details.cfm?id=5231: Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center; 2020.

- 3. Stephan K, Symmons M, Hillard P, Bohensky M, Muir C, Lenné M. Characteristics of fatal motorcycle crashes involving excessive and/or inappropriate speed. Melbourne: Monash University Accident Research Centre; 2008.
- 4. International Traffic Safety Data and Analysis Group. Speed and crash risk. IRTAD Research Report. https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/speed-crash-risk.pdf: International Transport Forum,; 2018.
- 5. World Health Organization, United Nations Regional Commissions. Global Plan for the Decade of Action for Road Safety 2021-2030. https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/documents/health-topics/road-traffic-injuries/global-plan-for-road-safety.pdf?sfvrsn=65cf34c8 33&download=true: WHO; 2021.
- 6. Szwed N, Fildes B, Langford J, Andrea D, Scully J. Balance between harm reduction and mobility in setting speed limits: a feasibility study. Austroads Publication No. AP-R272/05. https://austroads.com.au/publications/road-safety/ap-r272-05: Austroads; 2005.
- 7. Hall C, Beer K, Robertson J, Nguyen T, Zafar F, Tan T, et al. Guide to Road Safety Part 3: Safe Speed. https://austroads.com.au/publications/road-safety/agrs-set: Austroads; 2021.
- 8. Global Road Safety Facility. Speed management hub: World Bank Group; 2022 [cited 2022 1 April]. Available from: https://www.roadsafetyfacility.org/speed-management-hub.
- 9. International Transport Forum. Towards Zero: Ambitious road safety targets and the safe system approach. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/publication/9789282101964-en: OECD; 2008.
- 10. Liu S, Oxley J, Corben B, Young K. Velocity Series Discussion Paper 4: Factors influencing travel speed. https://www.monash.edu/ data/assets/pdf file/0007/217186/Velocity-Series-Discussion-Paper-4-Factors-Influencing-Travel-Speed.pdf: Monash University Accident Research Centre; 2012.
- 11. Elvik R, Christensen P, Amundsen A. Speed and road accidents: An evaluation of the Power Model. TOI report 740/2004. https://www.toi.no/getfile.php?mmfileid=1007: The Institute of Transport Economics; 2004.
- 12. Jurewicz C, Sobhani A, Woolley J, Dutschke J, Corben B. Exploration of Vehicle Impact Speed Injury Severity Relationships for Application in Safer Road Design. Transportation Research Procedia. 2016;14:4247-56.
- 13. Hussain Q, Feng H, Grzebieta R, Brijs T, Olivier J. The relationship between impact speed and the probability of pedestrian fatality during a vehicle-pedestrian crash: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Accident Analysis & Prevention. 2019;129:241-9.
- 14. Working Group of the Joint OECD/ECMT Transport Research Centre. Speed management. https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/06speed.pdf: Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development; and European Conference of Ministers of Transport; 2006.
- 15. Academic Expert Group, editor Saving Lives Beyond 2020: The Next Steps Recommendations of the Academic Expert Group. 3rd Global Ministerial Conference on Road Safety; 2020; Stockholm, Sweden. Stockholm: Swedish Transport Commission; 2019.
- 16. World Health Organization. Managing Speed. WHO/NMH/NVI/17.7. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/managing-speed: WHO; 2017.
- 17. Wegman F, Goldenbeld C. Speed management: enforcement and new technologies. R-2006-5. https://www.swov.nl/sites/default/files/publicaties/rapport/r-2006-05.pdf: SWOV Institute for Road Safety Research; 2006.
- 18. Weijermars W, Wegman F. Ten Years of Sustainable Safety in the Netherlands: An Assessment. Transportation Research Record. 2011;2213(1):1-8.
- 19. Charlton SG, Mackie HW, Baas PH, Hay K, Menezes M, Dixon C. Using endemic road features to create self-explaining roads and reduce vehicle speeds. Accid Anal Prev. 2010;42(6):1989-98.



- 20. Theeuwes J. Self-explaining roads: What does visual cognition tell us about designing safer roads? Cogn Res Princ Implic. 2021;6(1):15.
- 21. Infrastructure and Transport Ministers. National Road Safety Strategy 2021-2030. https://www.roadsafety.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/National-Road-Safety-Strategy-2021-30.pdf: Commonwealth of Australia; 2021.
- 22. Australian Transport Council. National Road Safety Strategy 2011-2020. https://www.roadsafety.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-11/nrss 2011 2020.pdf: ATC; 2011.
- 23. Stafford MC, Warr M. A Reconceptualization of General and Specific Deterrence. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency. 1993;30(2):123-35.
- 24. Truelove V, Freeman J, Kaye SA, Watson B, Mills L, Davey J. A unified deterrence-based model of legal and non-legal factors that influence young driver speeding behaviour. Accid Anal Prev. 2021;160:106327.